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Foreword

In 1999 Tadley and District History Society (TADS) published
Around Tadley — fact and fable, an encyclopaedia of information
about Tadley and the surrounding area. During 1997-98, when
we were researching material for the book, we asked local people
for help and information. We kept being refered to Florence
Davidson’s The History of Tadley, published in 1913. We were
shown but never allowed keep, several old re-typed editions

of this long out of print publication. One almost felt as if the
Antiques Roadshow came to Tadley someone would produce a
copy for examination and valuation!

Over recent years TADS has tried to keep the memory of the
book alive by suggesting re-publication, whilst at the same time
researching the life of its author, Florence Davidson.

In 2007 Basingstoke and Deane Borough Council publicised
a scheme of grants awarded for projects promoting the heritage
of the Borough. TADS thought a proper new edition of the book
might be a suitable project for consideration. We discussed the
purpose of the reprint and how we might add to the original.
Eventually it was decided that we should seek to make more
people aware of this historic document by improving the
presentation, while adding to it with comments, background
information and where necessary modern interpretations. As
part of the project copies of the book will be donated to local
schools to encourage the younger generation to take a greater
interest in the history of their part of the Borough.

Our thanks go to Basingstoke and Deane Borough Council
for their financial backing which has given us the freedom to
undertake additional research and produce such a professional
edition. We hope you enjoy Florence’s book.

Tadley and District History Society, 2008



Florence Davidson
and family — a biography

Florence Alexandrina Grieg Davidson (1857-1955) was born
in the United States of America, the youngest of six daughters
born to Mary and William Jarvis Davidson. Her mother was
American but William was born in Scotland in 1813—14. His
occupation in 1850 is recorded as a merchant. He had obviously
ved in America for some time prior to this as their eldest
daughter, Mary, was born there in 1842. Some time between 1860
and 1871 the family moved to England as the 1871 census shows
Mary and William with five daughters and two servants lliving
in Nottingham. In 1868 daughter Mary had married Augustus
Bolle de la Salle. No record of Mary, Augustus and their three
children are found after 1881. Following the death of her father,
in 1876, Florence, her mother and the other four unmarried
sisters: Lucy, Jessie, Charlotte and Lillias Campbell, moved south
to Portsmouth. In 1882 Lucy married Peter McQuid and by a
strange coincidence when Peter died in 1909 the address on his
will and probate was “The Laurels) Basingstoke.

The main recorded place of residence for Florence, her
three sisters and their mother, remained in Portsmouth. In
1904 their mother, Mary, died aged 84 years. The sisters were ‘of
independent means’ having inherited income and property in
the United States. No doubt to occupy their time and intellect,
Florence and Lillias took up writing. The British Library
catalogue records 19 fiction and non-fiction titles written by
Lillias, with later re-prints of some books. Her first, Hints to lady
travellers at home and abroad, was published in 1889. One other
book attributed to her is in the Devon collection of children’s
books at Exeter Library. Her writings continued to be published
right up to 1935, the year after her death.
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Possibly inspired by her sisters’ achievements, Florence had
what is believed to be her first book, King Alfred’s Winchester:
the Ancient Capital of England, published in 1899. She developed
a passion for the history of north Hampshire, perhaps due in
part to the fact that Lillias had a country house in Pamber Road,
Silchester known as ‘Cole Byron'. Jack Lambden (1904—99) lived
near ‘Cole Byron’ as a boy and recalled that he, with other local
lads, would go there to weed Miss Davidson’s garden, for which
they were paid. This is supported by a reference in The Book
of Silchester by James Thomson c1915 (vol 1 page 150), where
he states “.. . Miss Lillias Campbell Davidson and Miss Amy
McLaren, both well-known authoresses, have country houses in
Silchester”. It would seem probable that Florence spent much of
her time in this area writing a succession of local histories.

Florence and her four elder sisters remained close throughout
their lives, all residing in Hampshire. Each lived to a venerable
age: Lucy died in 1929 (aged 84 years), Lillias in 1934 (aged 80
years), Jessie in 1936 (aged 88 years) and Charlotte in 1944 (aged
94 years). When Florence left Hampshire we do not know, but
she later moved to Exeter where she died in a nursing home on
13 April 1955. What such a prolific and enthusiastic local historian
did for the forty years following her last known publication
in 1914~15 is not known. Her book The Romance of Children’s
Games now lodged, like her sister’s book, at Exeter Library,
may have been written later. It has, however, become apparent,
through recently acquired letters sent by Florence, that by 1927
she was living in Exeter. At the age of 70 and conscious of the
wealth of research material in her possession, it appears that
over the next few years she dispatched documents to relevant
interested parties, libraries and archival repositories. Florence
is buried in Exeter Higher Cemetery, Heavitree. Sadly no
headstone marks the site of her grave and no obituary was
submitted to either the Exeter or Portsmouth local newspaper.

In the years prior to her move to Exeter, Florence lived in
Southsea, where her sisters Jessie and Lillias lived at the time of
their deaths. The sole beneficiary of Florence’s will was Pearl
(Montagu Lowe) Jones of 8 St Ronan's Road, Southsea. We
believe Pearl may have been a housemaid or companion to
Florence, and perhaps also her sisters.
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To obtain the copyright to re-publish The History of Tadley,
we took advice from the executors of her probate, The National
Westminster Bank, who confirmed that we should contact
Pearl (Montagu Lowe) Jones or her executors/relatives. After
considerable research the necessary permission was granted by
Joy Montagu Hazelhurst Watts, a first cousin to Pear] who had
died in 1989.

We have been able to identify a considerable number of

Florence’s published works:

King Alfred’s Winchester: the ancient capital of England
(Reprinted from ‘The Englishwoman’s Magazine’); Warren &
Son, Winchester, 1899.

The history of Monk Sherborne parish; Monk Sherborne and
Pamber parish magazine, 1907-08.

Monk Sherborne: a history of the parish and priory; C E Symonds,
Basingstoke, 1909.

The history of the Benedictine Priory of Monk Sherborne;
Proceedings of the Hampshire Field Club and Archeological
Society, vol vii pt 1 (pp 101-109), 1914.

A research manuscript for Monk Sherborne is lodged at

HRO. 94M71 PZs. It is not attributed to any author but TADS

informed them in 2007 it was believed to be written by FD — it
has the same typed hallmark as the Silchester MS.

The history of Silchester, C1910; typewritten copy.

A research manuscript for the two Silchester books is in the
Local studies library at Reading — copy in TADS archive.
Probable date 1910. Annotations confirmed in text — 1913/1930.

The history of Tadley/The history of Tadley parish; C E Symonds,
Basingstoke, 1913.

The history of Silchester parish, 1914; typewritten copy.

The quaker burial grounds at Baughurst; Proceedings of the
Hampshire Field Club and Archeological Society, vol vii, 1914.

The romance of children’s games; typewritten copy.

Lodged at Exeter Library; part of the Devon Collection of early
(pre 1840) children’s books. '



Introduction

This book was probably the last of Florence Davidson’s local
histories to be published. In it she places the history of Tadley
within the context of events that were occurring locally,
nationally and internationally.

It is a simplistic historical document, written more as
an interesting read than as a reference source. It contains a
considerable amount of information, some more historically
accurate than the rest, which has been used over the years by the
local population to regale family and friends.

With the decision to re-print this history, leaving the original
text unaltered, came the necessity to clarify and expand certain
aspects of her work. The book is laid out with the original text
on the right, odd numbered pages, with selected words and
phrases highlighted in red. Opposite, on the illustrated pages, are
the explanatory notes. To maximise the space for these notes, the
authors name has been simplified to ‘FD".

Some words and phrases may occur more than once in the
text. It has not always been possible to include an explanation at
their first mention as some pages contain far more information
than others.

There are throughout the text a number of spelling oddities
which we have tried to correct or explain, where possible via
the notes. For example, on page 22, FD refers to ‘slates’ when
we believe she means ‘slats’ but on page 44 we can find no
meaning or alternative for the word ‘bough’ All punctuation and
grammatical errors remain as originally typed.

Florence used a mix of primary and secondary source
material but did not include a bibliography to identify these.
They have only become apparent via ongoing research carried
out by TADS. We have added a bibliography which we hope,
will enable readers to pursue further their own research of the
history of Tadley.
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The History of Tadley

To trace the history of the Parish, I must go back many hundreds
of years, when there was no church and no houses in the village
and when all this part of Hampshire was a dense forest that
reached from Windsor to far beyond the borders of Berkshire.
The trees grew thickly together, oak, birch and elm being grown
on the low lands, while fir and beech was found on the higher
ground. The underwood was so thick that it was very difficult
to force ones way through it, as there was no one to thin it and
cut down the old timber, while the many streams and marshes
in it overflowed after rain and made the way quite impassable.
In these marsh meadows and on the sides of the streams the
witheys (willows) grew in abundance. All kinds of wild and
savage animals which are not found to-day in England lived

in the overgrown forest. Wolves used to prowl through the
underbush, great wild boars with huge tusks fed on the fallen
beech mast, while badgers and wild cats lived on the banks and
in the trees. The few people who were in this part of Hampshire
lived outside of the forest on the Downs near Basingstoke and
ingsclere, in rude huts made of the branches of oak and birch,
and the first paths that were made through Pamber Forest were
the foot tracks that led from one of these groups of huts to
another, and many of them are the same that you walk over
to-day. These people were very savage and wild, living on the
game they caught or killed with their bows and arrows, and
dressing in the skins of the animals they had eaten.

Then the Romans came to England and conquered it,
building a large city at Silchester, where the remains of houses
and Temples have been found inside the old city walls which we
can still see to-day.

These Roman people who over ran a great part of England
brought many things into our country that were unknown
before, but which are very common now. The British sheep
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were all horned like rams, the Romans introducing the breed of
hornless sheep such as we find on all our farms at the present
time. They also brought pheasants into the country and showed
the Hampshire people how to weave baskets from the witheys,
and to make their pottery on a wheel, as before this time it

had all been shaped by hand. Besides this they planted in our
neighbourhood fruit and other trees not seen here before. Pear,
damson, cherry and peach, medlers quince mulberries and
figs. Walnut trees, poplars, chestnuts, sycamores, peas, radishes
and box were all introduced by them, while the grape vines that
grow up the cottages, and the laurels that border our gardens we
owe to them as well. The Romans stayed on in England for some
300 years, and while they were here, about the year 313 A.p.
Christianity was proclaimed as the religion of the country,

but the vast majority of the people remained heathen as they
had been before, worshipping many strange Gods, such as the
sun, moon, the rivers, the springs and the trees. The Romans

left England early in the year 400 A.p., and soon after this the
country was conquered by a race of Saxon people from Europe,
who on settling here were called Anglo-Saxons. They were

a strong set of men with blue eyes, fair hair and fair skin, who
thinned the forests and built settlements on their borders. Tadley
most likely had its beginning in these days, as the word “ley” is

a Saxon word and means a clearing made in a wood as a pasture
for cattle. Some of the names of the fields in the parish date back
to these far off days, such as “Picked” which is the Saxon Pickt

a pointed or triangular piece of land, and which we still have in
Picked Close and Picked meadow.

The clearing in the Forest at Tadley (which is also spelt as
Tederlei, Titherley and Tuderley in very old books and maps)
must at first have been a very small one, and the few people who
were here had only turf huts to live in, that had no windows,
the smoke coming out a hole in the roof. Oxen were used to
plough the land, with often eight oxen harnessed to one plough.
In harvest time only the heads of the corn were cut off by hand,
and the straw was gathered afterwards. As time went on the
country became more civilized, the Saxons were conquered
by the Normans, a race of people who came from France, and

11
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more spaces were cleared in Pamber Forest, which at that time
was full of all kinds of game. Stags; deer; wild boars and hares
abounded. The forest then extended as far as Windsor Castle
and was Crown property. Our kings in those far off days used to
hunt there, and King John had a hunting lodge quite close — at
Kingsclere. Indeed, in the parish Tadley Place House is always
spoken of as a hunting lodge of this King, but no authority can
be found for this. If it was the case however, the house then
standing has gone long ago, long before the present house was
even begun.

The right to hunt and shoot the game in the Royal forests was
only given to friends of the King, and poaching was forbidden
and very severely punished. If a man killed a stag or wild boar
he had his eyes put out. If he chased a hart or a hare he was
flogged and sent to jail in Winchester for a year. None of the
farmers or villagers were allowed to keep a dog for fear of their
killing the game. This was a very hard law as there were no police
in those days and everyone had to safe-guard their own house
and property, and a dog was a great protection against thieves.
Wolves, badgers and wild cats were found in Pamber Forest, and
they made great havoc among the farmers’ sheep and cocks and
hens. As the country became more populated, roads were made
in different parts of the parish, and the highroad to Basingstoke
was widened.

The first mention that we have of the parish is in 1253, when
a Henry Fitz Stephen had to appear in the Court House at
Winchester for having broken into a wood at Tadley, (Taddele)
belonging to a Winchester clergyman, and cut down his trees
without permission. We are not told what his punishment
was, but in those days it was certain to have been a very heavy
one. We can find no mention of the year in which the parish
church of St. Peter’s was built, but we find in 1286 that the
Manor and Church of Tadley, and the Manors of Wolverton and
Bedhampton, with other lands, belonged to Reginald Fitz Piers,
so that the Church must have been built before this time. But
it has been so rebuilt and added to and restored since then
that hardly any of the original church remains. The rector of
Overton was also Vicar of Tadley from the earliest times, and

13
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in those days, and down to the middle of the last century, the
Service in the Church was performed by a priest appointed by
him for that purpose.

In these days, and for many hundred of years later, a bell
used to be rung from the Church Tower each day at sundown,
after which all fires and lights had to be put out by law, so that
people went to bed with the sun, and rose again at the break of
day to go to work in the fields. The men usually did all the hard
work on the land, while the women stayed at home, ground the
corn for bread, salted down the meat for winter use, brewed the
home-made cider, and wove the wool of the sheep into cloth for
the use of their families, and to sell in the town. There were no
schools for the children, so no one could read or write, and as
there were no shops they had to lay in their stores for the year
at the great fair which was held annually at Basingstoke, on the
same date that it is held to-day.

The game in Pamber Forest was strictly preserved for the
use of the King, but a great deal of poaching went on in the old
days. In 1343, John Coperure (Cooper) and Richard Twyhere,
of Tadley, were put in prison in Winchester Castle for killing
a young deer in the Forest. A few years after this date, a terrible
plague, called the Black Death, raged throughout England,
and was very bad in the villages round Basingstoke, in Tadley,
Pamber, etc. Entire families died of it in a few hours, and there
were hardly enough people left to bury the dead or to do the
work of the farms, which lay desolated. No Services were held in
the Church and no wheat was sown.

A Sir John Peeche held land in Tadley at this time, and in the
next century John Benham owned Tadley Place. His grandson
William was the owner in 1468. One of William’s daughters,
called Joan, married William atte More, of Wyefords, a family
well known in the county at that time. The descendants of this
William Benham of Tadley Place are still to be found in Pamber
Heath and the neighbouring villages. Many years after, another
Joan More of Wyefords, married a William Ludlow, and she
seems to have brought Tadley Place into the Ludlow family, in
whose possession it remained till it passed to the Searle family,
then by purchase to the Congletons of Aldermaston, in 1822,
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and finally to the Hicks Beaches — of Oakley Hall, who are

the present owners, though the property is now in the market
and will very likely pass into other hands before very long.

The Benhams, who were the owners at one time, were a well-
known Berkshire family, landowners and sheriffs of the county
in their prosperity. The Ludlows came from Wiltshire, and one
of the family, Edmund Ludlow, signed the death warrant of
King Charles the First, but he never lived here, though he was
the owner of Tadley Place. A Henry Ludlow, who owned the
property in 1587, was very unpopular in the parish. He pulled
down twelve houses on his land, turning the occupiers out

into the roads. He raised all his rents and oppressed not only
the poor, but his young nephew, Richard Dawtry, to whom he
was Guardian. This was an idiot son of his sister, and he not
only took all his money away but cruelly ill-treated him as well.
Henry Ludlow’s ghost was said to haunt Tadley Place until a few
years ago.

Tadley place was built about the time that it came into the
possession of the Ludlow family, and must have taken the place
of an earlier building. Sir Edmund Ludlow, one of its earliest
owners, was knighted in 1601 by Queen Elizabeth at Basing,
when she was making a royal tour through Hampshire, and
went on from there to stay at the Vine, in Sherborne St. John.
Formerly Tadley Place was much larger than it is at present, and
was built in the form of the letter E, with a fine oak staircase and
oak panelled doors and rooms, with stained glass windows with
the Ludlow and Benham coats of arms in them. But all this was
removed by the Ludlows when the house was sold, and the oak
panelling and staircase were taken out, and one wing and other
rooms pulled down when the Hicks Beach family came into
possession of the property. There is however a fine fireplace still
left, and one can trace a walled up entrance to a now filled up
underground passage that tradition says once led to Wyefords.
There is a story that a ham used once to hang in the kitchen at
Tadley Place where it had been for more years than the owners
could count. While it was here all was quiet in the house, but
when it was removed to an outhouse all kinds of mysterious
noises were heard in the house as of a man with a heavy tread
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who led a horse upstairs and along the corridors. A tenant at last
decided to cook the ham, but it had to be chopped up with an
axe, and was as hard as iron and uneatable. And the noises went
on worse than ever. But for many years nothing has been either
seen or heard about the house.

A Windmill once stood close to the house, but all vestiages of
it have long ago passed away. Only names of fields, such as Great
Windmill Meadow, Little Windmill Close, and Combe House
Windmill remain to show where this old mill once stood. It was
here that the corn was all ground that was reaped by the Tadley
farmers and villagers.

One of the former owners of Tadley Place, Edmund
Ludlow, (a descendant of Colonel Ludlow, the Regicide), was
very anxious to marry a lady with a fortune of £10,000, so he
promised to pay two of his friends £50 each if they could find
him a lady with this amount of money, and though they found
the lady, a Miss Elizabeth Thomas, with this fortune, whom he
married, he seems to have objected to pay them the £50 he had
promised.

In 1575 I find a list of all Tadley land owners who had to
provide food for the Royal Household of Queen Elizabeth on
payment of a small sum of money. Certain men called purveyors
went round the country to collect this food, and in out of the
way places they often stole the food and kept the money for
themselves. Tadley had to supply a certain number of geese
and pullets, and so many bushels of wheat, and we find that
George Ludlow of Tadley Place, (who at that time owned 200
acres of pasture and 20 acres of meadow), Regnold Hannington,
Henry and Richard Prior, Richard Coles, William Appleton,
Hugh Duffin, Widow Lawncleet, Ralfe Pilgrim, Richard
Sheffield, William Shoreland, Robert Still and Richard Wither,
are the landowners in Tadley, and between them they had to
find this provision. The Hanningtons were at one time a family
of wealth and position in the Village. Regnold Hannington,
spoken of above, had a daughter Margaret, who married
Mr. Bye, of Basingstoke, and it was her son who put up the
monument to his uncle, Mr. Hannington (who died in 1602), in
Bramley Church. The Priors were an old Tadley family, owning
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Bishops Wood (now Elmhurst), and they also had much land

in the neighbourhood. But as time went on they became very
poor, had to sell their land, and have now entirely died out of the
parish. The Withers came from Dean and owned land in Tadley
till quite recently. The Appletons are still here, and there may be
descendants of the others living in the village still.

In 1532 farmers in the parish were paying 2d. a dozen for
crows heads, and pork was sold at %2d. a pound and veal at the
same price. In 1588 complaint was made in Basingstoke that
bakers from the neighbouring villages were bringing bread to
sell in the town, that was under the lawful weight. We find that
William Stevens of Tadley was doing this, and an order was
given making him pay a fine, and binding him to bake proper
weight of bread for the future. On April 25th, 1560, a William
Sheffelde of Tadley, (or Sheffield), a tanner, gives his son Richard
land, which at that time he was living on himself, with a garden,
etc, ten acres in all, called Brocas and Spyers (now known as
Elmhurst). This land lay next to the King’s Highway leading
from Basingstoke towards Aldermaston on the east, and the
land of the Bishop of Winchester on the west, and upon the
land known as Le Barne Heathe on the south. In 1566 I find
mention of the family of Hannington who lived in the Parish.

A son of theirs, called John, was born here and went to New
College, Oxford, where he took his degree. He was a clever young
man, but while travelling in Italy he was drowned in a well near
Rome. We read of his death in Foxe’s Book of Martyrs. In 1600,
Sir Robert Hannington and Elenor his wife, brought a suit into
Court about their rights to certain lands at Tadley, which they
had bought of William Marshall, and of John Hobson, Esq. and
his wife Elizabeth. Queen Elizabeth stayed at the Vine in 1601,
and no doubt the Tadley villagers would go out to see her as she
was met by a magnificent cavalcade of nobleman on Silchester
Common on her way to Sherborne St. John.

The old Parish Church is dedicated to St. Peter, but as I have
said it is not known when it was built, though a Church existed
here from early days. It was restored and almost entirely re-built
in the middle and end of the 1600. The brick tower is dated 1685,
with small windows at the top that have slates let in them for
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light and air, instead of having wood slates which are more usual.

The gilt weather vane on the tower is in the shape of a cock,
(the attribute of St. Peter), and is supported by a finely worked
stand of old iron work. The Chancel is of brick and the Nave of
stone, while the porch of brick at the south entrance was put up
in 1689. The Rev. Joseph Westwood was rector of Overton, with
the Chapel of Tadley at that date. The entrance to the porch is
made of old oak, with roses carved in the two angles over the
door, while the oak door into the church is old and thick and
has a curious handle and lock. There is a fine old pulpit with the
date 1650 inside the door. It has carved panels and there is a very
old fashioned canopy over it, dating from the same time as the
pulpit. This pulpit was put up at the time of the commonwealth,
and is very interesting for this reason as there are not many of
this date in the county. The north door has been closed, and
there is a window in the chancel that has been walled up.

At the west end of the Church is a gallery, with a fine oak
staircase leading to it, that is about the same date as the pulpit.
There are axe hewn oak benches in the gallery where the choir

used always to sit in old times. There is a good peal of three bells.

One is dated 1669, another 1618, with the name of Henry Knight
as its maker. The third bell has a very quaint inscription on it,
formed of letters upside down and many of them backwards as
well, that make no sense at all. It is supposed to have been used
simply as an ornament by some workmen who could not read,
or it may be an acrostic, which so far has not been found out, it
reads, i s

INONAIKSOVOABIRK. M X.
which has caused many guesses to be made as to its meaning,. It
is not dated, but it is evidently older than the other two. There
is an old burial bier in the Church which is still in use. On
the wall of the Church is a brass recording a legacy left by Mr
Sympson of Monk Sherborne in 1674, of money to be given to
the parish “as long as the world shall endure.” It was to be given
on St. Thomas’ Day to the poor, in sums varying from 6d. to 3/-.
Another legacy to the Parish was given in 1739 by Mr. William
Mothe “from his land there,” he living at Sherborne St John.
In the churchyard are very few really old gravestones, though
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burials must have taken place here for centuries. One reason
for this is that tombstones before 1600 were almost unknown,
and another is that in this part of Hampshire it used to be the
custom to place only wood slabs at the head of the graves, and
as a natural consequence they have long since perished. The
oldest stones in the graveyard are to the families of Prior; Hide;
Thorpe; West; Curtis; Elliot; Kimber and Butler.

In 1644 Tadley (spelt Tadlow in maps of that date) people
must have had a chance of seeing King Charles the First, as he
slept at Kingsclere with his army in October of that year, just
before the second battle of Newbury took place, when Tadley,
with every other village in the neighbourhood, had to provide
food for the hungry troops, till to quote an account of what took
place, “There was hardly a sheep or hog, or any wheat, oats or
hay, left for man to eat in all the districts round about.” There
were frequent marchings too of the King’s regiments through the
Parish from Aldermaston to Basing House with provisions and
ammunition. We have no Parish Registers as early as 1600 or we
might have found the names of villagers who died of the great
plague in 1666, which raged all about Basingstoke and carried
off so many of the parishioners of Monk Sherborne and Pamber,
people having to be buried as they died, the infection was so
terrible.

In 1694 there was a terrible outbreak of Small Pox in the
County, and very many died from it. There were no infectious
hospitals at that time, and vaccination was unknown, so people
had to be nursed at home, and those who did not die from it
were scarred with its marks while they lived. In 1697 a great
frost prevailed over England, that began at Christmas and did
not break until March of the following year, so that the Tadley
farmers could not begin work in their fields till April. All roads
in the parish were very ill kept and full of ruts, while the lanes
were quite impassible with mud for anyone except in a cart or
on a horse to attempt to pass through them. Indeed, carts often
stuck fast in the narrower lanes at the beginning of the winter
and could not be moved till the spring, when the mud had dried
a little. There were no shops even at this time in the village
and everyone had to walk or go by carrier into Basingstoke or
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Newbury to get what they wanted, or they could sometimes get
a few things from a passing pedler.

Until the middle of the last century Tadley was not a Parish
Church, but only what is called a Chapelry in the gift of the
Rectors of Overton, being spoken of as “Overton with the
Chapel of Tadley.” The Patron of Overton has always been the
Bishop of Winchester, who continued to be the Patron of Tadley
after it was made a parish of its own, and entirely severed from
the Mother Church of Overton, which was done in the middle
of 1800. In old days the Rector of Overton either came over once
or twice in the year to hold a service in Tadley Church, or more
often sent one of his curates to take occasional Sunday Service
and to perform all baptisms, marriages and burials. These
curates never lived in the village, but rode over from Overton
as they were wanted. It was not till the year 1668 that we find
Tadley spoken of as a Vicarage, and it was not till late in 1700
that any of the curates who came here to take the duty were ever
residents. Overton is a very old parish, and we have the names
of its rectors since 1247. Philip de Luci is the first rector whose
name I have found, who was rector in 1247. The first curate of
Tadley whose name is given as such was the Rev. William Dee
Best, who was here from 1775 to 1782. This is the reason that
till very recent years there was no Rectory house, as the curates
who came here for duty either lived at Overton or put up in the
village here in a cottage. When they only came over for Sunday
duty, they generally stayed with Mr. Prior, who lived at Bishops
Wood House, (now Elmhurst). One must remember that Tadley
in those days was only a mere scattered hamlet, with but very
few inhabitants.

The parish registers go back to 1686 for baptisms; to 1691 for
marriages, and to 1695 for burials. The books are rather ragged,
bound in parchment covers, with many missing leaves. In one
of the early registers are these verses, “Pray learn to live. For you
no that you must die. Pray learn to live as well as I.” And they are
signed Nicholas Wheat. The first baptisms are those of Joseph
Sympson and George Englefield in 1683, and George Benham in
1685. Among the first marriages are those of Robert Masson and
Helen Right, 1691. William Pilcher and Evis Kimber, 1682. John
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Englefield and Elizabeth Englefield, 1691. Francis Dicker and
Judy West, 1692. Thomas Prior and Mary Tayler, 1699. Thomas
Hood and Jane Munger, 1701. Thomas Young to Elizabeth
Appleton, 1705; Edward Phillips to Dinah Angliss, February
16th, 1705. Benjamin Benhem to Martha Englefield; October
20th, 1718. John Sympson to Ann West, 1727. Mathew Cripps to
Dinah Pocock, 1725. Richard Barlow to Mary Hunt, 1755; Edward
Parish (Patten maker) to Abashai Buruch, 1758. William Barlow
(yeoman) to Mary Stacey, 1761. and David Crips (Hoop maker)
to Hannah Hasker, 1768.

Among the first burials are those of Richard Mattingley
and Ann Harmsworth in 1695, and the register states that they
were buried in woollen. This was in accordance with a new law
that had been recently passed by King Charles II. The woollen
industry in England was in a very bad state, and to encourage
and revive it the King ordered that all people must be buried in
woollen grave clothes and not in linen ones as had always been
the custom before this time. If they failed to do this they were
fined £5, and the money was given to the poor. The following
names also occur in the registers about this time. Lovegrove,
Webb and James in 1700. John Harmsworth in 1722; Giles, 1764;
Cullom, 1772; Lipscombe, 1811; names as familiar now as then
in the Parish. In these registers one notes the terribly frequent
deaths of very little children of a few days or weeks old. Six or
seven babies in one family dying before they were three years
old. This was owing to the lack of proper sanitation and fresh air
in cottages, and ignorance of the right way to bring up a young
child.

In 1705, at the General Election for Parliament, the candidates
for Hampshire were Thomas Jervoise, Esq., Robert Chandler,
Esq., and Thomas Lewis, Esq. The only people in Tadley who
had a vote at that time were the following freeholders: Ralph
West; William Cross; William Tubb and John Corderoy.

In 1703 great storms swept over England, and a terrible
hurricane devastated this part of the country, doing much
damage in Pamber Forest and blowing down many fine trees.
In 1712 a standard weight of bread was ordered by Government,
and Tadley bakers had to see that their penny loaves weighed
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six ounces, twopenny ones, one pound and three ounces; and
their one and sixpenny loaves must be from eleven to fourteen
pounds. The villagers, as a rule, baked all their bread at home,
and the farmers brewed their own ale, which was thin and sharp
in taste. Cider, too, was drunk in the cottages.

Wood was burnt for all fires as coal was hard to get and very
expensive.

We find a notice in the Parish registers on March 3oth,

1776, that a woman called Ann Thorp, living at Stratfieldsaye,
paid half-a-guinea for permission to bury her son in Tadley
churchyard, he being brought to Tadley on a Sunday. The reason
for this was that her family had formerly lived in the parish.

In 1781 the Rev. W. Dee Best, who was curate here, received
£11s for permission to bury William Butler and Thomas Webb,
(this latter was an infant), they living at Oakley. But as they both
belonged to the same family, and the two burials were on the
same day, Mr. Dee Best gave the guinea back to the person who
had brought the bodies in his cart for such a long way.

The Rev. W. Dee Best, who was curate here from 1775 to 1782,
seems to have been much liked. He married a Miss Harriet Anne
Wilder, of Nunhide, and he also gave the fine Communion
Plate to the Church which is still in use. This plate was made by
a well-known London Silversmith of the day, and is of very good
design. In 1785 the services at the Parish Church were undertaken
for some years by the Rev. Eusibius Lloyd, who was also curate of
Silchester where he lived for twenty years. Scarlet fever was very
bad in Tadley and all the villages round about in 1763, and there
were many deaths from it. There were no infectious hospitals at
this time, so everyone had to be nursed at home, and the only
treatment for this fever was to give the patient very hot drinks,
tie a piece of red cloth round their neck, and leave them to
sleep and live with other people in the same house, exactly as if
they were well. The year 1772 was remarkable for its mildness in
Tadley, roses and cherry trees being in full bloom on Boxing Day.
At this time corn sold for 6s. 5d. in the market at Winchester.

In the winter of 1772 the country about here was infested by
footpads, and it was dangerous for anyone to be out alone even
in the daytime, as many very terrible murders and robberies
were committed between here and Basingstoke. In 1775 Tadley,
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with all the other villages in the neighbourhood, felt the shock
of an earthquake, and 1776 was long remembered by the farmers
as one of the finest harvests the country had ever known. In

this same year a great deal of smuggling went on all along

the Hampshire coasts, and contraband goods, such as spirits,
lace and tobacco were brought by night from Basingstoke and
Winchester, as far as Tadley, where they were hidden for safe
keeping in the many vaults and cellars which are still to be found
under the larger houses in the village.

At this time, anyone coming from Basingstoke and
Winchester as far as Tadley by post chaise , had to pay 10d a mile
for one horse, 1/4 for two horses and 1/6 for four horses. Wages
were very low in Tadley at the end of 1700, labourers getting 12/-
to 14/~ in the summer and only 10/- to 12/- during the winter
time. Domestic servants were paid from £3 to £9 a year. Bread
was selling for 1/1 a gallon and potatoes could be had to Y2d
a pound.

In 1795 bread went up to 2/1 a gallon and all other food
increased so in price that it was almost impossible for the
villagers to live on their 10/- a week. Tea was five shillings
a pound, so that the people drank instead cider and sour home-
brewed beer at all their meals. Sugar was seven pence a pound,
so honey was used instead. Milk however was 2d. a quart. Glass
was so heavily taxed that pewter mugs were used to drink out
of, while 2/6 was paid for six of the very commonest china cups
and saucers. Candles were so dear and so taxed that the Tadley
people burnt rush lights that they made at home of the pith of
the rush and melted grease, and that gave such a feeble light that
a woman could hardly see to sew or cook by it. Letters came
from Basingstoke by mounted postman, who delivered his letters
when it best suited himself. But the postage was very different
from what it is now. A letter cost 1/4 for the first ounce and 8d.
for every half ounce after, so unless it was a matter of life and
death no cottager ever received or sent a letter. Women made all
the straw hats for their families from straw that they gathered in
the harvest field, which they plaited into different shapes.

I have been able to learn a great deal of the history of
the Parish during the last century from some of the older
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parishioners, among them, the late Mrs. Saunders and the
late Mr. James, who have told me many things about Tadley
in old days, and what the lives of the grandfathers and great
grandfathers of the villagers were in the early days of 1800. The
village in those days was a very much smaller one than it is
to-day, and except the old Parish Church, Elmhurst (Bishops
Wood House then) and two or three farm houses, there
were only a few scattered cottages in the place and a few huts
thatched with heather that were hidden among the gorse on the
Common. And there was the little old Chapel close to the road
to Basingstoke. All the cottages were thatched at this period as
well as Bishopswood House, and the risk of fire was very great.
The roads were in a terrible state, and a Mr. Skinner, who has
left an account of his passing through Tadley in 1821, says, “The
roads are so rutty, I have never seen worse”. The high road to
Basingstoke was kept in better repair, but the mud in winter was
so bad that you could not cross the Common except in a large
farm wagon, and the lanes and bye-ways were quite impassable
on foot in winter time. Everyone wore pattens then, and they
were made in an old house in the parish, and in the parish
registers in 1758 we have the name of Edward Parish, Patten
maker, but the trade is now extinct. At last the roads became
dangerous, and as there was no real road across the Common it
was decided 70 years ago to make good roads all over the parish,
but as no one in the place knew how to make them, a road
maker came from Wooton Basset and lived in the village, and
made all the roads, the villagers working under him.

Eighty years ago the population was 404, now there are
over 1327 people in the parish, while the number of houses
has increased by two-thirds. Well-built cottages have taken the
place of the old mud thatched huts where the labouring men
of a hundred years ago lived and brought up their families.
Carters on the farms at this time drove six horses to each wagon,
and a very pretty sight it must have been to see the well-kept,
powerful horses, each one wearing a high collar hung with
bells, passing along the roads. A private post chaise to hold four
used to run through the parish from the Angel at Basingstoke
to the Hinds Head at Aldermaston. The horses were ridden by
a postilion, dressed in leather breeches, a green coat, high boots
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and a green cap, the same as postilions wear to-day. The price
of the chaise was 1/- a mile, and it cost 10/- to go from one place
to the other. The public coach ran through the parish by the
highroad, and stopped at every mile post to take up passengers
and also at all the Inns on the way. There was no regular carrier
from the village till many years later, though carriers’ carts
passed through the village from neighbouring parishes.

The village has altered very much in eighty years. Where Mr.
Rogers shop now stands was a house with a thatched barn in
front of it. And most of the cottages were lost to sight in the
thick high furze bushes which in those days covered all the
Common. The heather was cut and used for thatching and
broom making. Mr. Skinner, whom I have quoted before as
driving through Tadley in 1821, came across one of these heather
gatherers and made a pretty water-colour sketch of her, which
I have seen in his journal. This woman told him she had just
been cutting heather on Tadley Common, and both she and her
two children were bare legged and very poor. The mother wore
a brown dress with very short sleeves and a small black hat with
a blue handkerchief tied over it. She carried a huge bundle of
heather over her shoulder, tied to a long stick. Her little boy was
in a smock and carried a pitch fork, while the little girl was in
rags. The present almshouses were two very old tumble-down
cottages in bad repair. There was no school at that time, as
soon as the boys and girls were old enough they were sent into
the fields to earn a little money by bean setting, stone picking,
and gleaning. The stones had to be piled into regular heaps of
a certain size in height and width, and a quick worker could earn
1/3 a day by this work. The stones were afterwards used for road
mending,.

Gleaning was always a very busy time, as a whole family could
easily glean a sack full of corn a day, which was often the only
way that the children ever tasted bread, as flour was far too dear
to buy, as after the battle of Waterloo, food of all kinds was most
expensive for many years. The women and girls wore aprons
when they gleaned, which they held up to hold the short pieces
of wheat in, while the longer ones they carried in their hands.
They put the loose grains as they picked them up into a pocket
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that hung round their waists. In the summer all the men used

to go away haymaking, generally to Hornsey Green and Church
End. As soon as the hay was gathered they went harvesting, and
later on with the whole of their families they went hopping,
going to Alton, Farnham, Alresford and the hop gardens in
those neighbourhoods, as their fathers and grandfathers had
gone before them. There were fewer workers in those days and
more hops were grown, so that a large family could make a very
good sum of money at the bins. In 1827 there were riots all over
England to oppose the bringing in of machinery for farm work,
such as reaping machines, etc., and a press-gang went all over the
country districts breaking and burning all these machines and
forcing the farm labourers to join them. Not many joined from
Tadley however, and the press-gang that was in these parts were
caught by the military at the White Lamb, at Ewhurst, and many
of them sent to prison and others transported.

The village children had no school to go to at this time. The
only teaching that they got was by going to a cottage where an
old woman lived, and paying her twopence a week for each child
to be taught to read. They used to sit close about her on low
stools, and she showed them their letters in a very large print
Bible, pointing out each one with a pointed stick till they knew
it by heart. They were never shown how to write, nor could they
read writing, and as soon as they could read after a fashion (only
knowing the easiest words) they left the Dame’s School, i.e. when
they were seven or eight. Soon after this time however a little
school was opened at Ramsdell, and the children from Little
Heath, whose parents were anxious for them to be taught, used
to walk over there every day. When Pamber School was built
some 60 years ago, the Tadley children of the better off villagers
were sent there. But as all the little girls had their curls cut off
just above their necks the first day they went there many of the
Tadley children cried so much about this that their fathers would
not let them go again, and they had to learn to read as best they
might. The chief trade in Tadley in those days was besides patten
and broom making, the making of clothes pins and thatching.
Clothes pins are still made but they are few in comparison to
what used to be made years ago when they were turned out by
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Fighting Cocks’ closed in Spring 2006.
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thousands. As to thatching it is dying out too, as the Insurance is
so much higher on a thatched house than one with tiles, and at
the present time when the thatch wears out it is seldom renewed,
though it is much warmer than any other kind of roof.

The Rectors of Overton, as I have said, were Rectors of Tadley
as well in former days. One of these, a Mr. Williams, was well-
known in the parish, and his son was killed at Ash Hill from
his gun going off as he reached up to pick nuts off a bank on
the side of a road as he came home from shooting. This caused
a great deal of sympathy in the village here. There used to be
silk mills at Overton, and some of the Tadley people used to
work in them, but these have been done away with for many
years. I was told by an old inhabitant that he remembered when
Walkners Firs was a cornfield, and he told me that many other
places had changed as well. This was at the time that a Mr.
Thorpe was living at Follett’s Farm. All brewing used to be done
at home, but the beer and ale was seldom drunk by the people
themselves, but sold to their neighbours who had no brewhouse.
Life was very rough, and a great deal of fighting went on on
Saturday nights on the hill below the “Fighting Cocks” (which
got its name from this cause). Five to eight couples used to fight
at a time, and the road from the top of the hill to the bridge on
the Sherborne (or Basingstoke) road was covered with them.
Any man who was a stranger to the place would have been very
roughly handled had he tried to pass through them while the
fight was going on, or who went into the Inn for a drink. There
was a great deal of apple growing in the parish in former years,
as cider was so much made at home. At what is now known as
Lipscombe’s Place, the orchard was so prolific that it was no
uncommon thing to gather 160 bushels of apples in the season.

The parish has always been a great place for Market
Gardeners. The gardeners made a pratice in those days of buying
from the smaller ones, and taking what they thus obtained
into Basingstoke to sell in the market or to the shops that
they supplied. The gardens were well managed and produced
a good supply of vegetables. There was no Rectory till quite
recent times, and as a rule the clergy who came from Overton
to take the services put up at Bishops Wood House with Mr.
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Prior. The first house to be used as a Rectory was what is now
Barn Close. It was only a small cottage, but Mr. Saulez, who
was Rector many years ago, bought it and used it as a Rectory
House. Before this time it was only a very poor place. May Day
was always kept in the village 60 years ago by the sweeps dressing
up in green bushes trimmed with streamers of coloured paper,
and going from house to house to collect a little money. They
used to dance on the green and sing a song about May Day, that
was very old indeed. People did not keep as many horses and
ponies as they do now in the village. There was not enough work
for a Blacksmith, so one used to come over once a week from
Baughurst to do any shoeing that might be wanted. Once a year
the tithe feast used to be held at Bishops Wood House, and it
was always a day of great rejoicing after the harvest had been
gathered in. The Rector always had the tenth shock for his tithe,
so in cutting a field every tenth shock was marked with a green
bough, so when the field was cleared the Rector’s shocks could
be carted away without further trouble. And as a rule there was
always a tiny shock left in the field when all the rest was carted
away as a present for the birds.

In looking over some of the Parish Registers of from 50 to 60
years ago, | have come across a great many names that are very
familiar ones in the village to-day, very likely the grandparents
or great-grandparents of those who live here now. Among the
marriages that took place in 1837 and the years following, these
may be of interest to the parishioners. In 1837, George Anglais
was married to Hannah Hedgcock, (he was a broom maker by
trade). Benjamin Benham to Eliza Tull. In 1839, we have the
marriage of William Watson to Sarah Harmsworth, and in
1841, Thomas Richardson to Harriet Mills. In 1842 James Nash
to Mary Ann Giles. At this time, as there was no school in the
village, very few people could write, so in these earlier marriages
we find as a rule that people only put their mark on to the
registers. Many of the marks are most distinctive and out of the
common, and would be known at once again as having been
made by one particular person. This was done on purpose so
that each person’s mark then was as easily recognised as their
signature is today.
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The villagers always walked to the Parish Church to be
married, never thinking of driving, and the day was one of great
rejoicing. If the bride was a good cook she allowed no one else
to make the wedding cake, while the wedding dress was made by
her own hands as well as the linen that she provided for the new
house. This was all made by hand, as sewing machines had not
been invented so long ago. If the married couple were popular
in the village, or sung in the choir, the ringers always gave them
a peal as they came out of church, and in return the ringers were
asked to the wedding feast. May was then thought (as it is now)
to be an unlucky month for marriages, and we seldom find that
one took place in this month.

The baptismal registers contain many familiar names. I give
a list of some of them beginning in 1822, as of interest to their
children, grand children and great-grandchildren, now living
in the parish. In 1822, Isaac, son of Richard and Phoebe Mills,
was baptised; and in the same year I find the name of Mary
Ann, the daughter of Abraham and Jane Giles; and William,
son of John and Betty Hawkins. In 1823, the name of James,
son of William and Ann Crips; and William, son of Elizabeth
and John Saunders. In 1136 the baptisms include the names of
Henry, son of Henry and Dorcas Simpson; and George, son of
Charles and Sarah Allen. In 1837, Anne, daughter of James and
Hannah Benham. In 1838, Jane, daughter of Abram and Elizabeth
Cottrell; and Martha, daughter of George and Hannah Anglais.
In 1843, David, son of Henry and Sarah Stroud. In 1844, Caroline,
daughter of Richard and Anne Ham. The baptisms of twins was
not at all uncommon, and the baptisms always took place on
a Sunday, as the parents being at work all the week, this was the
most convenient time to bring their babies to Church. It was
very unusual for children to have more than one Christian name
given to them. The custom of giving more names than one has
only become general within the last few years.

From the burial registers I have taken the following names,
as I think the people in the village may be interested to read
them. In 1830 were buried James Crips, aged 76; 1831, Mary
Monger, 78; 1832, Leah Harmsworth, 9 months; Jane Bowman,

2 years and Sarah Bowman, 1 year were both buried on the same
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day, April 8TH. There must have been some epidemic in the
village to account for this. In the same year were buried Ann
Barlow, 73; Sarah Englefield, 34; James West, 5 months, and
David Prior, of Bishops Wood House, aged 84. In 1833, Susannah
Crips, on July 2151, aged 505 and on July 2471H, John Crips, aged
64. 1834, Martha Chapman, 85; James Barlow, 84, and Mary
Englefield, aged 86, were buried.

In the same year we have the burial of Jane Kew, who died at
the age of 28. It is interesting to know that some of this family
went to Australia many years ago and settled there. They are
now trying hard to trace what has become of the family of Kews
that they sprung from. 1837, Lucy Harmsworth, aged 70; 1838,
Caroline Stacey died, aged 84. 1840 there were two funerals
on the same day, on February the 6th, Martha Bowman and
Thomas Hedges, a rather unusual event for a small village.

In 1841 we have the burial of Hannah Welch. In 1847 there is

the account of the funeral of a little girl of only two years old,
Mary Ann Nash, who was drowned, poor little thing, by falling
into a hole where water was lying. The custom so general in
Hampshire of putting wooden crosses or headstone to the
graves in the parish graveyard is the reason that there are so few
memorials of the dead to be seen there before the end of 1700.
The rain and the sun so soon destroy them, and there is nothing
left to mark the spot where former generations lie buried.

In 1844 we find the burial of David Harmsworth, aged 9o.
The Harmsworths were a very long-lived family, and Tadley
must have been as healthy a place in those days as it is now, for
we find the burials in the Church registers of so very many old
people, 80 being a common age, and many lived some years
longer. James Harmsworth, the brother of David, died in 1847
at the age of 80. James Harmsworth had formerly been Parish
Clerk, and he died very suddenly in the Church Porch on
Whit-Sunday. The long walk to the Parish Church must have
been very tiring to old people, and to walk up-hill on a warm
day very trying for the heart. It was a daughter-in-law of James
Harmsworth, called Jane, who was such a remarkable woman,
and so well-known to the older people of the village. She had
been a Jane Penford, of Tadley Place, and married George
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Harmsworth in October, 1826. Both she and her husband came
of old Tadley families. Mrs. Harmsworth was a woman of

great buisness qualities, and not long after her marriage was
made Assistant Overseer and Collector of Taxes, both of which
offices she filled remarkably well. She then became one of the
Churchwardens, and was made the Parish Clerk. She always used
to sit inside of the Communion Rails in the Church, and took
part in all the services with great attention to her duties. She was
also postmistress, and used to bring the letters to Church with
her on a Sunday morning and deliver them to their owners, to
save the trouble of taking them the next day. She lived to a great
age, dying in 1891, when she was 85. Her brother-in-law William
Harmsworth, who married Jane West in 1849, was the old
postman who used to bring the letters from Monk Sherborne in
a donkey cart, and cleared the letter box before there was a post
office.

There was a terrible thunder storm in the parish about eighty
years ago. It came on while all the villagers were in the harvest
field, and there were many narrow escapes from injury from the
lightening. It did great damage in the place, and a great number
of trees were struck and thrown down at Mr. Prior’s place,
Bishops Wood (now Elmhurst). The Priors were a family of
wealth and position in the parish, where they had lived for some
hundreds of years.

One of the trades which flourished 40 or 50 years ago was
called white hoop making. John Ham was a very well-known
maker of these wash-tubs. They used to be made in sets of eight,
from the size of a wash basin up to the largest and heaviest
tubs. They were most difficult to handle when they were full on
account of their weight, and many accidents used to take place
from this cause. At the battle of Waterloo volunteers were asked
for to fight in the army, or be ready for defence in case of the
feared invasion of England by the French, which was expected
to happen any day. If a man volunteered, he was given £5, but
a great many who would not do this were forced to go, and in
that case they got nothing. A villager called James was one of
these men who was forced to go by the press-gang, but before he
left England victory was declared and he came home again. His
grandson has lately died in the almshouses. Flour at the time of
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war in 1815 went up to 2/4 a gallon, and living in the country was
so expensive that many Tadley and Pamber people emigrated to
America,

At the time of the Crimean War in 1855, food went up to
almost famine prices, bread being 1/6 to 2/- a gallon, which was
far higher for the time than in 1815. The people in the village
about here used burnt bread as a substitute for tea, as the latter
was too expensive to buy, coal was seldom or never seen at
Tadley, wood being burnt entirely. The trades in the parish, with
the exception of those that have died out, are much the same
to-day as they were then. There was copse work in cold weather
for the men, who also made hoops and brooms. Of these
latter thousands were made in the year and sent as a rule to the
North of England, where they were used in the iron foundries
and mines. They made them of birch and heather, and a good
workman could finish many of these in a week. Many years
ago there was a heavy duty on all spirits brought into England,
and much smuggling went on all down the Hampshire coasts.

A certain man who had an Inn at the gate of Kempshott Park,
was a receiver of this smuggled brandy, which he hid in his
cellars till it was wanted. This man bought these birch brooms
that were made at Tadley in great numbers to send to the North
and when he heard that the Customs Officers were in the
neighbourhood, he either let the kegs of spirits down a well close
to his house or sent them out to Tadley by night in the empty
carts in which the men had brought in their brooms. The barrels
were hurried out in the darkness, and either stored underground
or in the wells, till all danger was over, then they were packed
under the next load of brooms that were going into Basingstoke
and given back to their owner at the Inn. Ten shillings to one
pound was given for running this risk (a terrible one in those
days) and if caught in the act, a smuggler was either put to death
or transported for life to Australia to the convict settlements that
used to be there.

Tadley Chapel was founded at the time of the Puritan
ejection. This Puritan ejection of 1662 is often mis-understood.
The Clergy had been deprived of their livings with great
ignomany and hardships by the Puritans, often being in such
great poverty that it was impossible for them to support their
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families. When King Charles I came to the Throne he rightly
re-instated these Clergy who had been turned out for no just
cause. This was in 1662, and those men who had been given
livings by the Triers of Oliver Cromwell, thought it very hard
and strange that they should be asked to retire. After the rightful
Rector was again appointed to his old parish, some of the
people who had worshipped under the minister appointed by
Oliver Cromwell, preferred to hold weekly prayer meetings to
coming to the Church. As time went on any minister who might
be in the neighbourhood would be asked to come and preach
to them. The Rev. Joseph Tate was one of the first ministers to
come here and speak to the people. This was somewhere about
1680. In 1696, the Rev. Thomas Overy was asked to take the
services, which at that time were held in the room of a house
called “Gardiners.” Mr. Overy was a Clergyman of the Church
of England, but had given up his living at the Restoration.
Some years after this, the room at Gardiners was too small to
hold all the people who came to these meetings, and it was
decided to build a place of worship in Does’ Lane. The Rev.
Joseph Tate was now the minister and helped to build a small
meeting house between 1718 and 1719. This first building was
plainly built of brick, with a gallery on three sides, and would
hold about 350 people. A great deal of interest was taken in
building this chapel, and a woman named Excellor Hextal, who
lived in or near the parish, became so enthusiastic about it, that
not being able to give much towards its completion herself, she
went to London and collected funds for it there. This was a far
greater undertaking in those days than it would be now. The
original trust deed bears the names of Robert West and Edmund
Benham, of Tadley, and names of people living at Overton and
Basingstoke. Besides the Meeting House itself, there was a small
burial ground and a house for the minister and his family, with
a garden attached.

There was a great deal of opposition to the building of this
Chapel, and a magistrate who lived near tried to stop all work
on it and rode over to prevent the work being carried on, but
he was thrown from his horse and broke his leg, and before
he was out of the house again the work was finished. Mr. Tate
died in 1724, and by his special request, was buried under the
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Communion pew that stood in front of the pulpit. In 1720 he
was very ill, and a collection of £3 was made in Newbury for
him, in one of the Chapels, as it was said that his need was
great. He was succeeded by Mr. Innis Pearce, who was the son
of a well-known London man, and always very sickly. There

is still a letter to be seen from his Aunt to his Father, in which
she says: “We were very much saddened to read of the sickness
and weakness of dear little Innis, we do hope his life may be
spared to make him a living monument of God’s mercy.” He
was minister here for 36 years, and died in 1761. At first his wife
and two children had with himself only £12 a year to live on.

He had nine children afterwards, and to support them he often
took duty in the neighbourhood, for which he was paid. He was
an M.A. of Edinburgh, and though offered preferment in the
Church of England by a friend of his, he felt it his duty to refuse,
as he said he was much needed at Tadley. Mr. Pearse wrote and
published volumes of poetry, hymns and sermons, which he
sold to help to maintain his wife and children. He wrote in all
two thousand volumes of sermons, all in a very clear hand, and
without any abbreviations. After his death his widow gave five
volumes that had belonged to him for the use of the Tadley
Meeting. However, these volumes were taken away by one of the
Trustees of the Meeting, who cut them up into wrappers for the
goods he sold in his shop. In 1822 there was only one volume
left, rescued just as it was being torn up. The next minister was
John Stevens, who came in 1762 and died in 1765. Most of the
baptisms of the congregation took place at Newbury at this
time. Mr. Stevens was followed by a Welshman called Prince. He
did not live here, but at Beenham and Sulham, in which places
he preached as well as in Tadley. Mr. William Cooper came to
the Meeting next, leaving in 1780, and died in Essex in 1814. Dr.
John Duncan, a Scotchman, succeeded him, but he was not liked
by the congregation, and when he took to admitting members
of the community who were not approved by the rest of the
congregation, a great many people left and went to Newbury
instead. A Mr. Henry Llewellyn Jones came about 1783, but only
stayed a year. A Mr. Aquila Jones succeeded him, but was only
here a short time. The Rev. Samuel Browne, who had worked
among the people for some time, was appointed minister in
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1790. He found the Meeting House very neglected, and the whole
of the members needing a resident and religious pastor. His
daughter, Miss Browne, in 1810 started the first Sunday School
ever held in connection with the Chapel, and she and her father
worked most carefully among the people. He died in 1826, and
was buried in the aisle of the Meeting House. He left his family
ill-provided for. This was no wonder when all he had was £40

a year which came from a few subscriptions, pew rents and a
mortgage, and often it was much less. The Rev. George Jennings
came, after his death, in 1827. He was very energetic, and as

the membership had increased he raised funds, and in 1828 he
enlarged the Chapel, adding a hundred more seats, and after

a time, eighty more members were added to the community.
Mr. Jennings started the first day school ever opened in Tadley,
which replaced the old Dame’s School where the children were
taught before. Mr. Jennings was here till 1862. In 1912 was the
hundredth year since the Meeting House was started, and

the two-hundred and fiftieth year since the Community was
first formed. It was decided to renovate the Meeting House as

a memorial of its foundation. The register of births and deaths
dates from 1788 to 1835, and is in Somerset House, London.
Besides the graves in the Chapel there are many old stones in
the graveyard. To the Rev. Innis Pearce, D.D., born in London,
educated in Edinburgh, Pastor here in 1724. His widow, Anne, is
buried with him. There are several stones to the family of Webb,
six children of Elisha and Judith Webb. Mary died 1805, Joseph,
1805, Laeitia, 1805, all within the space of two months, and none
of them over the age of seven. Joshua died, aged 3, in 1893; this
verse is on the stone: “Sleep softly, sweet blest babe, here freed
from pain”. The Webbs must have been a very sickly family,

as there is a stone also to a son Thomas, who died, aged 17, in
1819 of consumption, and a married daughter, Martha Adams,
who died aged 26. “Short was her pilgrimage below, and few
her wedded years™. There are graves to people from Padworth,
Newbury, etc., who were members of the Community.

These notes on the Parish history would not be complete
without an account of a very well known Tadley character who
lived here during a great part of 1700, and the early years of
1800. This was John Mulford, who was born in October, 1720,
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and was remarkable for his many eccentricities. His family lived
a long time in the parish, and he had the blood of the “travelling
people” in his veins of which he was enormously proud. He was
a fine looking man, and was very vain of a long beard which
reached nearly to his knees, and which in his later days was snow
white. He dressed in the most expensive clothing which he wore
with the greatest care for many years at a time. He was a rich
man, though no one knew where or how he got his fortune.

He was most generous in charity and religious objects, seldom
turning from his door any who asked his alms, but he was frugal
to a degree in his house and kitchen. He would hardly spend

a penny on his house or table, grudging money spent on all but
actual necessities. As he grew older he lived alone in his house
almost as a hermit. He never married, and would never have
anything to do with his relations.

People used to ask Mulford who his family were and where he
came from, and his answer was always the same, “My ancestors
were mole catchers to William the Conqueror, and my coat
of arms has three moles, and three mole skins on it.” He was
constant in his attendance at Chapel, and was taught to think
of religious things by a minister called John Whitburn. It was
during his life time that he built two Chapels and two houses
for their ministers, who preached there at his sole expense. One
of these Chapels was at Basingstoke, the other on Mortimer
Common, on the borders of Padworth Parish, where constant
services are still held. It was Mulford’s great wish to die suddenly,
and this happened on January 7th, 1814, when he died in his
chair without pain at the advanced age of 94. He had just before
been standing at his window, as he walked about the room and
he remarked to those about him, “What a fine day for gossiping
people to go about and say Old Mulford is dead.” He left
£20,000, which was to be divided between his poor relatives and
the Chapels he built. He is buried in the graveyard of the Chapel
he built on Mortimer Common, and this is the epitaph on the
stone, “Gone to know more, adore more, love more; Christ
Victorious, Satan Vanquished; Here earth take thy part of John
Mulford.”
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ERRATA

How soul destroying that after so many hours of checking and re-checking we
now find there to be a number of minor errors, which we bring to your attention,

Page 3
Page 3
Page 3
Page 4
Page 7
Page 10
Page 19
Page 58

Page 18

N.B.

line 5 “refered” should read - referred
line 7 should read - allowed to keep
line 8 “..felt as if ..” should read - felt that if
line 9 “lliving” should read - living
line 16 “..authors name ..” should read - author’s name
line 6 “..native to the Europe..” should read - native to Europe
line 6 “vestiages” should read - vestiges ’
Mortimer Common - line 23 — omission. Should read
The Countess of Huntingdon's Connexion.
Whilst we are aware that there is no j in the Roman alphabet this extract
was faithfully typed from Walter Money's translation of the original.
We draw your attention to the Introduction, page 7, regarding the spelling
of certain words within the FD text.
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The History of Tadley

A glimpse into the history of the once rural hamlet
of Tadley, as told by a lady of American birth who
developed an avid interest in the history of North

Hampshire. In her story she places Tadley within the
context of local and national events of the period and
gives the reader an insight into a simpler way of life
now long forgotten.

Florence Davidson came to England as an eleven year
old child with her sisters and parents, and devoted
much of her adult life to researching and writing
about the local history of this area.

Tadley has now town status and is more often
associated with its close neighbour, AWE (Atomic
Weapons Establishment). In the years since the
establishment of AWE in 1950 the population of the
area has grown dramatically, but the remnants of the
early hamlets that Florence describes can still be seen.
Take a walk today through the Tadley Conservation
Areas and churchyards and you will still find many of

the places and names Florence describes.
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